IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

-o0o-

4 KIMBERLY KLINE,

Appellant,

VS.

1

2

3

5

6

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

28

CITY OF RENO; CANNON COCHRAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES, "CCMSI"; the STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, HEARINGS DIVISION, an Agency of the State of Nevada; the STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION

APPEALS DIVISION, an Agency of the State of Nevada; MICHELLE MORGANDO,, ESQ., Sr. Appeals Officer; RAJINDER NIELSEN, ESQ., Appeals Officer; ATTORNEY GENERAL AARON

FORD, ESQ.,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Supreme Court 192022 02:29 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter under NRAP 3A(b)(1) because the matter arises from a final order of the District Court and no other proceedings remain below on the discreet issues raised in this appeal. Also under NRS 233B.150, this Court has specific authority and jurisdiction to hear this appeal as it is an appeal from the District Court of an administrative judicial review matter. The District Court had jurisdiction under NRS 233B.130 and NRS 616C.370.

This appeal is timely as the District Court's Decision Denying the Petition for Judicial Review was filed on February 10, 2021. The Notice of Entry of Order was filed on February 11, 2021. The Notice of Appeal was filed by Appellant in the District Court on March 8, 2021.

ROUTING STATEMENT NRAP 28(a)(5)

The matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(9), administrative agency cases except those involving tax, water, or public utilities commission determinations.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether S.B. 289 Section 1, which has modified NRS 616C.490 and provides statutory clarification and removes the prior confusion created by the administrative regulation at NAC 616C.490, should be applied in the instant matter as NAC 616C.490 has been superseded by statute with the enactment of S.B. 289 which the Legislative Counsel Bureau deemed effective May 21, 2021 for all open workers' compensation claims. Section 11 of S.B. 289 makes the statute applicable to all claims that are open on the date of its enactment. For purposes of the PPD, the issue is not closed until either the matter is not appealed with thirty (30) days or the injured worker accepts the PPD in a lump sum. *NRS 616C.495*.

Whether the Appeals Officer's Decision and Order upholding

apportionment of the Appellant's Permanent Partial Disability (PPD) award for her cervical spine workers' compensation claim from 25% down to 6%, a 75% reduction and which constituted a clear error of law and/or an abuse of discretion where the method of apportionment did not comply with NRS 616C.490 and NAC 616C.490(6)(7) and (8) because there is no evidence to demonstrate that the Appellant had an impairment prior to her industrial injury and, especially, what was "the scope and the nature of the impairment which existed before the industrial injury." NAC 616C.490(6). Further, the Appeal's Officer committed reversible error of law by disregarded her prior Decision in AO 56832-RKN which deemed the cervical disc herniations as within the scope of the claim. AA 0379.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this case the Appellant, KIMBERLY KLINE, seeks reversal on judicial review of a Decision and Order made by the Appeals Officer in a workers' compensation case, and a District Court's Order that denied her Petition for Judicial Review. The Appeals Officer erred under the clear and unambiguous provisions of NAC 616C.490. Specifically, NAC 616C.490(6) through (8) state as follows:

- 6. If there are preexisting conditions, including, without limitation, degenerative arthritis, rheumatoid variants, congenital malformations or, for claims accepted under NRS 616C.180, mental or behavioral disorders, the apportionment must be supported by documentation concerning the scope and the nature of the impairment which existed before the industrial injury or the onset of disease.
- 7. A rating physician or chiropractor shall always explain the underlying basis of the apportionment as specifically as possible by citing pertinent data in the health care records or other records.
- 8. If no documentation exists pursuant to subsection 6 or 7, the impairment may not be apportioned.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant suffered an industrial injury while in the course and scope of her employment with the Respondent on June 25, 2015. **AA 0383-**

225 South Arlington Avenue, Suite C, Reno, Nevada, 89501Tel: (775) 323-5200 Fax: (775) 323-5211

2

3

5

6

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

0388. The Appellant was rear ended in her work vehicle by another vehicle. AA 0383-0388. The Appellant presented to St. Mary's Regional Medical Center for treatment. AA 0389-0392. The initial assessment was acute lumbar radiculopathy, sprain of the lumbar spine, and acute pain in the lower back. AA 0390.

On June 30, 2015, the Appellant was seen by Dr. Hall at Specialty Health. AA 0395. The Appellant had complaints of neck discomfort that was described as moderate, diffuse, radiating into the right shoulder with associated stiffness and lumbar and thoracic pain. AA 0395. Dr. Hall assessed the Appellant as suffering from a sprain of the neck and sprain of the lumbar region. AA 0396. He recommended chiropractic care, returned the Appellant to work full duty, and advised her to return in two weeks. AA 0396-0398.

The Appellant received chiropractic care from Dr. Maria Brady who is also from Dr. Hall's clinic. Dr. Brady assessed that the Appellant had spinal segment dysfunction at C6, C7, T1, T3, T4, L4, L5 and S1 that necessitated chiropractic adjusting at those levels. AA 0399-0401. The Appellant saw Dr. Brady again on July 7, 2015 and July 9, 2015, with complaints of worsening symptoms. AA 0403-0410. Dr. Brady provided chiropractic adjustments. AA 0403-0410.

The Appellant returned to see Dr. Hall on July 14, 2015. AA 0411-**0413.** The Appellant continued to have ongoing lumbar and neck pain, that was moderate to severe, associated sleep disruption and stiffness, and had minimal improvement with chiropractic care. AA 0411. Dr. Hall recommended the Appellant receive six physical therapy sessions. AA 0412.

The Appellant began physical therapy on August 5, 2015. AA 0415-**0417.** The Appellant received physical therapy treatment from August 5, 2015 through October 26, 2015. AA 0415-0417, 0426-0431, 0435-0440,

Tel: (775) 323-5200 Fax: (775) 323-5211

2

3

4

5

6

7

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

0442-0443, **0494-0497**. The Appellant was discharged from physical therapy on October 26, 2015 to a home exercise program. AA 0497.

The Respondent issued a notice of intention to close the Appellant's claim on November 6, 2015. AA 0501. This was the second time the Respondent tried to close the claim. AA 0425. The Respondent tried to close the claim while the Appellant was treating on August 27, 2015. AA 0425.

On January 13, 2016, the Appellant saw Dr. Hansen for chiropractic care for her neck pain. AA 0502-0504. Dr. Hansen's assessment was that the Appellant had cervical disc displacement, unspecified cervical region. AA **0503.** Dr. Hansen felt that there was a high probability within a medical degree of certainty that the Appellant's injuries were related to the rear-end collision she had recently sustained. AA 0504. Dr. Hansen recommended non-surgical spinal decompression coupled with Class IV deep tissue laser therapy four (4) times per week for four (4) weeks, undergo re-examination, and continue with care two (2) times a week for two (2) weeks pending no unforseen issues or conditions. AA 0506.

The Appellant had an MRI on January 13, 2016, which revealed disc degeneration with large disc protrusions at the C5-6 and C6-7 levels resulting in complete effacement of CSF from the ventral and dorsal aspects of the cord with severe canal stenosis without cord compression or abnormal signal intensity in the cord to suggest cord edema or myelomalacia. AA 0505.

The Appellant returned to see Dr. Hansen on January 14, 2016. AA **0507-0511.** Dr. Hansen referred the Appellant to Dr. Zollinger for evaluation and treatment as she was in a significant amount of pain with numbness in her left upper extremity. AA 0507. Dr. Hansen reviewed the MRI which revealed two large disc protrusions at C5-6 and C6-7 with pain consistent with C5-6. ROA 306. He again opined that the disc protrusions were directly related to the industrial accident. AA 0512.

Tel: (775) 323-5200 Fax: (775) 323-5211

1

2

3

6

8

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Pursuant to Hearing Number 55487-JL, the Respondent was ordered to forward the Appellant's MRI results to Dr. Hall and question him accordingly. AA 0548-0550. The Respondent was ordered to issue a new determination regarding the further disposition of the Appellant's claim upon receipt of Dr. Hall's response. AA 0548-0549.

The Respondent questioned Dr. Hall and on March 16, 2016, Dr. Hall responded. AA 0551-0552. Dr. Hall opined that it was likely that Appellant had disc degeneration prior to the industrial injury which may have been exacerbated by the industrial injury, but he noted no evidence of neurologic symptoms during his treatment of her industrial injuries. Dr. Hall found no objective evidence connecting the MRI findings from January 13, 2016 and the industrial injury. Notwithstanding the Appellant's complaints, Dr. Hall opined that the Appellant recovered completely from the industrial injury on June 25, 2015 by the end of October 2015. AA 0551-0552.

Due to the Appellant's ongoing complaints, she saw Dr. Sekhon on July 5, 2016 pursuant to a referral of Dr. Hansen. AA 0447-0452. Dr. Sekhon's impression was:

- Cervical spondylosis, C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7 with cord compression C5-6 and C6-7; Mobile spondylolisthesis at C4-5;
- Failed conservative therapy; and Minimal spondylosis, L3-4, L4-5 and L5-S1. AA 0450.
- Dr. Sekhon noted that the Appellant stated that she never had these arm symptoms before these accidents and although she may have had preexisting spondylosis, the accident probably exacerbated her underlying stenosis. AA **0450.** Dr. Sekhon offered to perform a C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7 anterior cervical decompression and instrumentation fusion. AA 0450.
- On January 18, 2017, Appeals Officer Rajinder Nielsen, Esq., entered a Decision and Order which reversed claim closure without a PPD evaluation or rating and ordered the Respondent to rescind claim closure and provide the

225 South Arlington Avenue, Suite C, Reno, Nevada, 89501 Tel: (775) 323-5200 Fax: (775) 323-5211

2

3

4

5

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

medical treatment recommended by Dr. Sekhon. AA 0373-0382.

Respondent timely appealed the Decision and Order to the District Court and a Petition for Judicial Review was ensued.

On December 11, 2017, the Honorable Lynne Simons issued an order denying the Petition for Judicial Review. AA 0579-0593. The Court noted that the Appeals Officer gave the opinions of Dr. Hall no weight as it pertained to the scope of the claim and that Dr. Hall's opinions were inconsistent with the medical evidence. AA 0590. This decision was not appealed.

The Appellant completed her treatment and was eventually determined to be at maximum medical improvement. The Appellant was scheduled for a PPD evaluation to determine the extent of her impairment due to her industrial injury pursuant to NRS 616C.490. No claim closure letter was issued pursuant to NRS 616C.235.

The Appellant was seen by Russell Anderson, DC. Dr. Russell found a 16 25% whole person impairment. AA 0456-0462. Dr. Russell stated that the MRI findings were not caused by the car accident. AA 0769. Dr. Russell then apportioned out 75% of the award which reduced the award from 25% to 6%. **AA 0770.** The Respondent then offered the Appellant the 6% PPD award on December 5, 2017. AA 0568.

The determination was timely appealed by the Appellant on December 13, 2017.

The Hearing Officer in HO 1801761-JL found a medical question pursuant to NRS 616C.330 and ordered a second PPD. AA 0370-0372. This was appealed by the Respondent.

The Respondent filed a motion for stay on February 14, 2018. AA 2146-2153.

The Appellant filed her Opposition on March 1, 2018. AA 1946-1956.

Appeals Officer Nielsen granted the stay on March 9, 2018. AA 1944-1945.

On March 13, 2018, Appeals Officer Nielsen ordered a telephone conference between the parties and set it on March 23, 2018. **AA 1942-1943.**

After the telephone conference, Appeals Officer Nielsen entered an order where she rescinded the prior order granting the stay. **AA 1940-1941.**

On June 13, 2018, Appeals Officer Nielsen ordered a telephone conference between the parties and set it on July 11, 2018. **AA 1926.**

Pending the Appeal, Appeals Officer Nielsen ordered a second PPD examination. The Claimant underwent the second PPD on May 8, 2018 with Dr. James Jempsa. AA 0811-0822. Dr. Jempsa found a 27% whole person impairment. AA 0822. Dr. Jempsa did not apportion the rating. The Respondent questioned Dr. Jempsa as to why he did not apportion the rating. Dr. Jempsa provided his reasoning confirming that apportionment was not appropriate. AA 0823.

The Respondent then sought a review by Dr. Jay Betz. Dr. Betz agreed with Dr. Anderson and supported his opinion based upon Dr. Hall's opinion of March 16, 2016. AA 0825-0830.

On June 13, 2018, the Respondent issued a determination letter offering the Appellant a 6% PPD award. **AA 0824.** This was timely appealed by the Appellant.

A hearing was held on July 12, 2018. The Hearing Officer found that no evidence had been presented to justify a 75% apportionment and the Claimant was entitled to the 27% PPD award by Dr. Jempsa. AA 0807-0809. The Respondent timely appealed and the Appeals Officer reversed the hearing officer's decision. AA 0207-0228.

During the Appeals Hearing, Dr. Betz conceded the following conclusive facts:

- 1. Dr. Betz was unable to apportion what pain was related to degenerative changes versus what was caused by the C5/6 and C6/7 herniations which were causing cord compression. **AA 0289.**
- 2. Dr. Betz conceded that if the C5/6 and C6/7 protrusions were caused by the industrial accident, it would change his opinion on apportionment. **AA 0292.**
- 3. Dr. Betz conceded that there was no evidence of a ratable impairment of the cervical spine prior to the industrial accident.

 AA 0293.
- 4. Dr. Betz confirmed that there were no prior records that supported an impairment to the cervical spine prior to the industrial injury. **AA 0294.**
- 5. Dr. Betz confirmed that there were no prior medical opinions that supported an impairment to the cervical spine prior to the industrial injury under the AMA Guides, 5th Edition. **AA 0294.**
- 6. Dr. Betz confirmed that there is not one medical record that documents that the Appellant had prior pre-industrial accident symptoms for her cervical spine. AA 0300.
- 7. Dr. Betz confirmed that there is not one medical record that the Appellant would have ever needed to have a cervical fusion surgery prior to the industrial accident. AA 0300.
- 8. Dr. Betz conceded that under the AMA Guides, 5th Edition, the rating doctor has to assess whether a condition was ever symptomatic and whether there was an aggravation and both he and Dr. Anderson found no evidence that any cervical preexisting condition was ever symptomatic prior to the industrial accident. **AA 0304.**

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

26

9. Dr. Betz conceded that the PPD completed by Dr. Jempsa (27%) is correct on apportionment if the disc protrusions were caused by the industrial accident. AA 0312.

Notwithstanding the lack of documentation required under the regulation the Appeals Officer accepted apportionment of nearly the entire 25% PPD in violation of the emphasized language of NAC 616C.490(8) set forth above and disregarded the second PPD finding of 27% which she had ordered under NRS 616C.360. Without any documentation or data upon which to base the apportionment, the first PPD doctor was merely speculating as to the scope and nature of the impairment as it may or may not have existed prior to the industrial accident and completely disregarded the law of the case that the disc herniations were caused by the subject industrial accident. Such speculation is simply not permitted in Nevada workers' compensation law. United Exposition Service Co. v. SIIS, 109 Nev. 421, 424-425, 851 P.2d 423 (1993) (workers' compensation benefit determinations "cannot be based solely upon possibilities and speculative testimony.") Specifically under NAC 616C.490 (6)(7) and (8) speculation is not permitted and evidence of the scope and nature of **THE IMPAIRMENT** as it existed prior to the industrial injury must be present to justify and permit apportionment. The burden of proof and burden of persuasion is on the doctor and the insurer to show documentation (evidence) of what the nature and scope of the impairment was prior to the industrial accident because NAC 616C.490(8) is unambiguously clear that in the absence of such documentation (evidence) the rating cannot be apportioned. Couple this with the concessions of the Respondent's reviewing doctor which confirmed that there was no ratable impairment at the time of the industrial accident renders the Appeals Officer's decision fatally flawed, inconsistent with the law, and not supported by the evidence. The Appeals Officer ignored her prior findings and the

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

requirements of NAC 616C.490(6) (7) and (8) and upheld the apportionment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under the clear language of NRS 616C.490, effective May 31, 2021 and which applies to all open claims, there is no apportionment as was found by Dr. Jempsa.

Section 1 of S.B. 289 states in relevant part as follows: THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS: Section 1. Chapter 616C of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

2. If no rating evaluation performed before the date of injury or onset of the occupational disease exists for apportionment of percentage of present and previous disabilities pursuant to subsection 1, the percentage of the present disability must not be reduced unless:

The insurer proves by a preponderance of the evidence that medical documentation or health care records that existed before the date of the injury or onset of the occupational disease that resulted in the present disability demonstrate evidence that the injured employee had an actual impairment or disability involving the condition, occupational disease, organ, anatomical structure or other part of the body that is the subject of the present disability; and

(b) The rating physician or chiropractor states to a reasonable degree of medical or chiropractic probability that, based upon the specific information in the preexisting medical documentation or health care records, the injured employee would have had a specific percentage of disability immediately before the date of the injury or the onset of the occupational disease if, in the instant before the injury or the onset of the occupational disease, the injured employee had been evaluated under the edition of the American Medical Association's Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment that had been adopted by the Division pursuant to NRS 616C.110. The documentation or records relied upon pursuant to subsection

3. 2 must provide specific references to one or more of the following:

Diagnoses;

- (a) (b) Measurements;
- Imaging studies; (c)Laboratory testing; or (d)

Other commonly relied upon medical evidence that supports the finding of a preexisting ratable impairment under the specific provisions of the edition of the American Medical Association's Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment that had been adopted by the Division pursuant to NRS 616C.110 at the time of that rating evaluation.

If there is physical evidence of a prior surgery to the same organ, 4. anatomical structure or other part of the body being evaluated for Tel: (775) 323-5200 Fax: (775) 323-5211

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

the present disability but no medical documentation or health care records regarding that organ, anatomical structure or other part of the body can be obtained, the rating physician or chiropractor may apportion the rating provided that the applicable requirements of subsection 2, other than any requirement to:

Have medical documentation or health care records; or (b) Base a rating upon medical documentation or health care records,

are satisfied. If there is no physical evidence of a prior surgery to the same 5. organ, anatomical structure or other part of the body being evaluated for the present disability and no medical documentation or health care records of a preexisting whole person impairment for the identical condition, occupational disease, organ, anatomical structure or other part of the body being evaluated for the present disability exist for the purposes of subsection 1 or 2, the percentage of present impairment must not be reduced by any percentage for the previous impairment. (The entirety of S.B. 289 is reproduced at AA)

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