IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No.: 82608

KIMBERLY KLINE,

Electronically Filed Mar 03 2022 03:20 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF RENO; and CANNON COCHRAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. "CCMSI",

Respondents.

Appeal From Order Denying Petition For Judicial Review Second Judicial District Court District Court Case No.: CV19-01683

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

McDONALD CARANO LLP Lisa Wiltshire Alstead (NSBN 10470) Chelsea Latino (NSBN 14227) Jane Susskind (NSBN 15099) 100 W. Liberty St., 10th Floor Reno, Nevada 89501 Tel: (775) 788-2000 lalstead@mcdonaldcarano.com clatino@mcdonaldcarano.com jsusskind@mcdonaldcarano.com

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

1. Dr. Betz was unable to apportion what pain was related to degenerative changes versus what was caused by the C5/6 and C6/7 herniations which were causing cord compression.

(AOB at 8) (citing II AA 289.). Dr. Betz's full answer to Kline's counsel's

question was:

Well, the evidence is she had herniations. She had some degenerative protrusions, As we all know, neck and spine pain is multi-factorial, it's impossible to assign, with any specificity, how much of it is disc related, how much of it is facet related, how much of it is ligament related, ...

(II AA 289.) The issue here is not how much pain is due to degenerative changes and how much is due to herniations causing cord compression, but rather how much of the present impairment is reasonably attributable to the pre-existing condition. In the Decision, the appeals officer concludes that "[h]ere, the medical evidence establishes that the Claimant had a pre-existing condition which mandates the rating physician to apportion under NAC 616C.490(1)." (I AA 217.) The Decision cites medical reporting by Dr. Anderson and Dr. Betz, supported by Dr. Hall's March 16, 2016 opinion, and the January 13, 2016 MRI showing degenerative changes, as the basis for this conclusion. (*Id.*) The appeals officer also found based on the evidence that "Dr. Anderson's apportionment of the Claimant's present impairment as 75% non-industrial and 25% industrial was proper and credible." (*Id.* at 223.)

Kline further contends:

2. Dr. Betz conceded that if the C5/6 and C6/7 protrusions were caused by the industrial accident, it would change his opinion on apportionment.

(AOB at 8) (citing II AA 292). This is misleading. Despite repeated attempts by Kline's counsel at the hearing to get Dr. Betz to admit that the C5/6 and C6/7 protrusions were caused by the industrial accident, Dr. Betz *never* says this. Instead, when responding to Kline's counsel's hypothetical assumption that this was the case, Dr. Betz responded that he would alter his opinion on apportionment:

[i]f I had evidence that the patient had immediate pain and found to have disc herniations in the weeks or months immediately following the accident, consistent with the accident, consistent with the symptoms then, absolutely, *it's not the case here*, but absolutely.

(II AA 292.) (emphasis added). In fact, the appeals officer found it significant that

there was no evidence that Kline had symptoms or examination findings of neck

injury at time of her initial presentation to the emergency department and was not

found to have acute injury related pathologies on MRI. (I AA 217.)

Kline relies heavily on the fact that there is no evidence of a *ratable impairment* to her cervical spine prior to the industrial accident, and that there is no

documentation of an impairment that predates the industrial accident:

3. Dr. Betz conceded that there was no evidence of a ratable impairment to the cervical spine prior to the industrial accident. (AOB at 8) (citing II AA 293).

4. Dr. Betz confirmed that there were no prior records that supported an impairment to the cervical spine prior to the industrial accident. (AOB at 8) (citing II AA 294).

5. Dr. Betz confirmed that there were no prior medical opinions that supported an impairment to the cervical spine prior to the industrial injury under the AMA Guides, 5th Edition. (*Id.*)

6. Dr. Betz confirmed that there is not one medical record that documents that the Petitioner had prior pre-industrial accident symptoms for her cervical spine. (AOB at 8) (citing II AA 300).

However, as explained by the appeals officer in applying the law to these facts,

the AMA Guides neither require that medical records evincing a pre-existing impairment predate the industrial injury, nor that the pre-existing impairment was ratable. (I AA 220.) Similarly, prior to the passage of S.B. 289, NAC 616C.490 neither required a prior rating of a pre-existing impairment, nor that the records predate the industrial injury. (*See id.*) The appeals officer's conclusions are supported by Dr. Anderson's and Dr. Betz's reports, and Dr. Betz's expert testimony, all of which point to medical evidence of pre-existing stenosis, spondylitis, and osteophytes *which take years if not decades to form*. (*Id.* at 223-224.)

Kline also contends:

7. Dr. Betz confirmed that there is not one medical record that the Petitioner would have ever needed to have a cervical fusion prior to the industrial accident. (AOB at 8) (citing II AA 300).

This selective citation, however, ignores Dr. Betz's other testimony that "I think it's highly likely that she would've ended up with a surgical fusion with or without the industrial accident" (II AA 301:13-15.) and that:

Fusions are only done because there are degenerative changes associated with it or evidence of instability, typically again related to degeneration. So, fusion would not typically be the recommended procedure for an acute herniation causing neurologic impingement."

(II AA 293:1-5) (emphasis added). Dr. Betz is clear that the industrial motor vehicle

accident could not have been the primary cause of Kline's cervical spine condition:

So, this patient clearly, clearly has a pre-existing condition. Okay? So, and we know that the fusion was done to address that pre-existing condition. It may have been aggravated by the occupational incident. I think that's arguable but may have been. I acknowledge it's a possibility. But clearly, the primary, if not 75% to 90% reason this fusion was performed was to address progressive symptoms related to multilevel degenerative disc disease...

(Id. at 273:1-8) (emphasis added). When the whole of Dr. Betz's testimony is

considered, it plainly supports the appeals officer's finding that Kline had a pre-

existing condition and apportionment of her PPD award was therefore proper.

Next, Kline emphasizes the fact that:

8. Dr. Betz conceded that under the AMA Guides, 5th Edition, the rating doctor has to assess whether a condition was ever symptomatic and whether there was an aggravation and both he and Dr. Anderson found no evidence that any cervical pre-existing condition was ever symptomatic prior to the industrial accident. (AOB at 8) (citing II AA 304).

However, as discussed above, the absence of symptoms prior to the industrial

accident does not preclude apportionment under NAC 616C.490.

Finally, Kline again misstates Dr. Betz's testimony citing the fact that:

9. Dr. Betz conceded that the PPD completed by Dr. Jempsa (27%) is correct on apportionment if the disc protrusions were caused by the

industrial accident. (AOB at 9) (citing II AA 312).

As Dr. Betz states repeatedly over the course of his testimony, his opinion based on

the medical evidence is that the disc protrusions were *not* caused by the industrial

accident. Indeed, the full exchange between Kline's counsel and Dr. Betz was

actually:

HERB SANTOS: Would it be fair to say that Dr. Jempsa's [sic] opinion would be correct on apportionment if the disc protrusions were caused by the motor vehicle?
DR. JOHN BETZ: [laughs] Well, if red is determined is blue, then I guess so, but–
HERB SANTOS: That's all I have, thank you Doctor.
APPEALS OFFICER: Let him finish his answer.
DR. JOHN BETZ: Okay.
APPEALS OFFICER: Finish your answer, Dr. Betz, please.
DR. JOHN BETZ: I think that question [inaudible] ridiculous but if there – if it was proven somehow that all the patient's cervical pathologies, all the spurring, the osteophytes, the bulging, the spondylolisthesis, the spondylosis, they're all related to that incident, which is preposterous, then yes, he's correct.

(II AA 312:5-21) (emphasis added).

Moreover, Kline is incorrect that the appeals officer's prior decision found that her disc protrusions were caused by the industrial injury. (AOB at 15:26-16:1.) Rather, the prior decision, which addressed whether claim closure was proper, observed that "Dr. Hansen felt there was a high probability within a medical degree of certainty that the Claimant's injuries were *related to* the rear-end collision she had recently sustained." (II AA 376.) Based in part on Dr. Hansen's opinion, the appeals

officer found that "[t]he substantial evidence supports a finding that the industrial accident aggravated the pre-existing condition and that the resulting condition was the substantial contributing cause of the resulting condition" and that Kline had "met her burden of proof with substantial evidence that she is not at maximum medical improvement and needs further treatment." (Id. at 380.) This decision predated the spinal fusion surgery and the PPD evaluations by Dr. Anderson and Dr. Jempsa, as well as the records review by Dr. Betz. The prior decision does not preclude the appeals officer from taking that subsequent medical history and documentation into consideration when reaching the Decision at issue here. Accordingly, the district court properly rejected Kline's argument with regard to issue preclusion and found that the appeals officer's Decision was not the result of reversible error nor was it an abuse of discretion, as the appeals officer did not re-litigate facts previously decided in a prior appeal, and the Decision is supported by substantial evidence. (I AA 188.)

Finally, the appeals officer's Decision sets forth the factual basis for each credibility determination. The Decision concludes that Dr. Anderson's and Dr. Betz's medical opinions and expert testimony were found credible and satisfy the requirements for apportionment under NAC 616C.490. (*Id.* at 222.) Specifically, the appeals officer found that both physicians explained the underlying basis for apportionment by citing pertinent data and medical records that supported their analyses. (*Id.*) The appeals officer further noted that Dr. Betz provided detailed
expert testimony as to each record relied upon and how that contributed to his apportionment analysis, as well as provided extensive testimony verifying that "there was documentation of the prior factor, and that there is evidence indicating the prior factor causes or contributed to the present impairment based on a reasonable probability," as required by the AMA Guides. (*Id*.)

The appeals officer also sets forth the basis for giving no weight to Dr. Jempsa's PPD evaluation. First, Dr. Jempsa's range of motion findings were questionable because "[i]t is well recognized that patients learn from prior rating experience." Dr. Jempsa failed to apportion because Kline stated that she had no problems with her neck prior to the industrial injury, and because he had received no records prior to the industrial injury on June 25, 2015. (Id. at 223.) The appeals officer concluded that this was also questionable because the medical evidence demonstrates pre-existing stenosis, spondylitis, and osteophytes, which form over the course of years, if not decades. (Id. at 224.) And, as discussed supra, NAC 616C.490 does not require that the evidence of a pre-existing condition predate the industrial injury. Thus, contrary to Kline's argument, the appeals officer's credibility determinations, which are supported by substantial evidence, *may not be* disturbed on appeal as requested by Kline. See Law Offices of Barry Levinson, P.C. 124 Nev. 355, 362, 184 P.3d 378, 384 (2008). The Decision is supported by the substantial evidence as correctly affirmed by the district court.

III. S.B. 289 and its Amendatory Provisions are Inapplicable to This Appeal.

Next, S.B. 289 and its significant amendments to the apportionment regulation NAC 616C.490 and statute NRS 616C.490, do not apply here. In her Opening Brief, Kline glaringly omits any analysis of the enactment provisions of the bill, hoping to apply the significant changes to apportionment in her favor. However, because Kline's claim is <u>closed</u> as opposed to <u>open</u>, S.B. 289 is inapplicable and should not be considered in evaluating whether the district court properly affirmed the Decision.

A. The Plain Language of S.B. 289 Renders it Inapplicable to Closed Claims.

"When a statute's language is plain and unambiguous, we will give that language its ordinary meaning." *Valdez v. Employers Ins. Co. of Nevada*, 123 Nev. 170, 174, 162 P.3d 148, 151 (2007); *DeMaranville v. Employers Ins. Co. of Nevada*, 135 Nev. 259, 264, 448 P.3d 526, 531 (2019). Here, Kline concedes that S.B. 289, which modified NRS 616C.490, applies to all workers' compensation claims that are open on its effective date of May 31, 2021. (AOB at 1; I AA 49 (containing S.B. 289, § 12).)

Indeed, the plain language of Section 11 of S.B. 289 provides that "[t]he amendatory provisions of this act apply *prospectively* with regard to any claim pursuant to chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or 617 of NRS *which is <u>open</u> on the effective date* of this act." (I AA 49) (containing S.B. 289, § 11) (emphasis added).

Under this plain language, S.B. 289 has no application to workers' compensation claims that were closed as of May 31, 2021.

Kline glosses over the fact that her claim, under the plain language of S.B. 289, is not subject to the amendatory provisions. Here, as confirmed by the appeals officer, the claim closed on May 8, 2018, the date of the second PPD evaluation with Dr. Jempsa. (I AA 224:21-22; IV JA 790-792.) Claim closure is not on appeal and the claim closure determination is final. (I AA 207-208, 224); *see also* NRS 616C.315; NRS 616C.345 (setting the jurisdictional time frames for an appeal). Under its plain language, S.B. 289, which only applies to claims open on the effective date of the bill, does not apply to Kline's claim which closed on May 8, 2018, *three years prior to S.B. 289's May 31, 2021 effective date.*⁵

B. Kline's Claim Remains Closed When No Appeal on Claim Closure Was Pursued and Revisiting Claim Closure is Jurisdictionally Barred.

NRS 616C.315 establishes that an injured worker has 70 days to appeal a written determination from an insurer or third-party administrator by which the worker is aggrieved. NRS 616C.315(3). An injured worker has 30 days to appeal a hearing officer decision resulting from a hearing on that determination. NRS 616C.345(1). The failure to timely file an appeal within these time frames is

⁵ Because S.B. 289 is inapplicable, neither the amendments on apportionment to NAC 616C.490 and NRS 616C.490 nor the amendments to NRS 616C.495 under this bill apply here, contrary to Kline's assertions.

jurisdictional and mandatory and results in a hearing officer or appeals officer lacking subject matter jurisdiction to hear the issue. *See Reno Sparks Convention Visitors Auth. v. Jackson*, 112 Nev. 62, 67, 910 P.2d 267, 270 (1996). Also, "[t]he law of the first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." *Hall v. State*, 91 Nev. 314, 314, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975).

Kline's failure to appeal claim closure is fatal to her argument that S.B. 289 applies here. While the underlying Decision on appeal addresses three separate Department of Administration appeals - Appeal Nos. 1900471-RKN, 1902049-RKN, and 1802418-RKN – none of these appeals are from the April 4, 2018 determination letter. That letter noticed claim closure effective as of the May 8, 2018 date of the Dr. Jempsa PPD evaluation, consistent with NRS 616C.235. (I AA 207-208; IV JA 790-792.) Rather, the determinations on appeal are dated December 5, 2017, May 24, 2018, June 13, 2018, September 20, 2018, and are on the issue of the PPD award only. (I AA 207-208.) The appeals officer further confirmed that Kline's claim closed on May 8, 2018, the date of Dr. Jempsa's PPD evaluation. (I AA 224:21-22.)

With no appeal of the April 4, 2018 determination closing the claim filed within the jurisdictional and mandatory time frames to appeal, and with the April 4, 2018 determination not being subject to the instant appeal, there is no jurisdiction

over the issue of claim closure. As the appeals officer correctly found, the claim previously closed when the April 4, 2018 determination became final with no appeal and *closure of the claim occurred on May 8, 2018*. Thus, although Kline's appeal of the apportionment of her PPD award was pending on May 31, 2021, when S.B. 289 passed, under the law of the case doctrine and the jurisdictional bars on time to appeal which render a determination final when not appealed, Kline's claim had already *closed*. (*Id*.)

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